29513-3-III

COURT OF APPEALS

DIVISION III

OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

٧.

MERLE W. HARVEY, APPELLANT

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF SPOKANE COUNTY

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

Janet G. Gemberling Attorney for Appellant

GEMBERLING & DOORIS, P.S. PO Box 9166 Spokane, WA 99209 (509) 838-8585



29513-3-III

COURT OF APPEALS

DIVISION III

OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

1/

MERLE W. HARVEY, APPELLANT

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF SPOKANE COUNTY

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

Janet G. Gemberling Attorney for Appellant

GEMBERLING & DOORIS, P.S. PO Box 9166 Spokane, WA 99209 (509) 838-8585

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- The court abused its discretion in admitting evidence of other misconduct.
- 2. Witnesses' expressions of opinion as to the ultimate issue of guilt violated the defendant's right to a jury trial.

B. ISSUES

- 1. The State was permitted to present evidence that two days after being driven from the scene of a shooting, and again about a week later, the defendant was involved in the theft of two different motor vehicles and eluding an officer. The defendant claimed that he shot two individuals in self-defense. Did the court err in finding this evidence of these other crimes was admissible under ER 404(b) to show defendant's consciousness of guilt?
- 2. A defendant charged with two counts of murder claimed he acted in self-defense. Before trial, the court granted a defense motion prohibiting the use of the term "victim" to refer to the deceased individuals at trial. Three different police officers used the term during trial, even after the court sustained an objection by defense counsel. Did this

testimony violate the defendant's Sixth Amendment right to trial by jury?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A friend introduced Jack Lamere to Merle Harvey as "a tax man for the Hell's Angels and Gypsy Jokers." (RP 1062) During the summer of 2009, Mr. Harvey's girlfriend, Diane Richardson, warned him that Mr. Lamere had just got out of prison and it would be a good idea to "be careful of him because he tortured people and stuff." (RP 1067-69) Indeed, Mr. Lamere told Mr. Harvey the same thing, in even greater detail. (RP 1074) On one occasion, Mr. Lamere called Mr. Harvey and threatened to kill him. (RP 1069) On another occasion, Mr. Harvey was with a friend, Aaron Cunningham, when Mr. Lamere held a gun to Mr. Cunningham's head. (RP 1073)

In late July, 2009, Mr. Lamere brought a Cadillac to Mr. Harvey's home and suggested that Mr. Harvey should trade him a Chevy Blazer for it. (RP 1070) They agreed to test drive each other's vehicles, and during the "test drive" Mr. Lamere drove away with the Blazer and never returned it. (RP 842, 1071)

Although he repeatedly assured Mr. Harvey that he would return the Blazer, Mr. Lamere never did, and eventually he persuaded Mr. Harvey that they should go through with the trade. (RP 1072, 1091) But after Mr. Harvey had agreed to the trade, Mr. Lamere then told him he would have to get the title to the Cadillac from a Rick Ziesmer. (RP 1073) Mr. Ziesmer refused to deliver the title. (RP 1073)

On September 26, Mr. Harvey and Ms. Richardson saw the Blazer in the parking area behind Mr. Lamere's apartment. (RP 1091) Although Mr. Harvey was somewhat intimidated by Mr. Lamere, they drove their truck into the alley, and Mr. Harvey asked Mr. Lamere to just trade the Blazer back. (RP 1091-93) Mr. Lamere told him to go get the Cadillac. (RP 1094) Mr. Harvey asked Ms. Richardson to make a phone call and have someone bring the Cadillac. (RP 1094)

Jacob Potter was also in the parking area. (RP 353) While Ms. Richardson was gone, Mr. Harvey was sitting in the truck and saw Mr. Lamere apparently getting angry and whispering something to Mr. Potter. (RP 1076-78, 1108) Mr. Harvey had seen Mr. Potter with Mr. Lamere once before, at Mr. Ziesmer's towing business. (RP 1105) Mr. Harvey was afraid that they were going to attack him, so he returned to his truck, and as he did so he thought he saw Mr. Potter pull a gun from his waistband. (RP 1078) At this point, although he was scared, he felt he couldn't leave without Ms. Richardson. (RP 1076-77, 1094) He got his rifle out and loaded it. (RP 1095)

When Ms. Richardson returned, Mr. Lamere was coming out of the apartment house, angry and yelling, demanding the return of the Cadillac. (RP 1076, 1095) Although Mr. Harvey was trying to explain that the Cadillac was being brought to them, Mr. Lamere continued yelling. (RP 1097)

Mr. Lamere got into the Blazer, saying he was going to drive it away. (RP 1103) Ms. Richardson, who was driving the truck, pulled forward to block him. (RP 1097) Mr. Harvey got out of the truck, but when he saw Mr. Lamere in a huddle with Mr. Potter and the other man he returned to the truck. (RP 1098-99) As he did so Mr. Harvey saw that Mr. Lamere and Mr. Potter appeared to be armed. (RP 1100, 1106)

Fearing that he and his girlfriend were about to be shot, Mr. Harvey grabbed his hunting rifle from the truck and fired shots in their direction. (RP 1079, 1110) Then he saw other people coming from the apartment house, and one appeared to be carrying a baseball bat. (RP 1080) Mr. Harvey grabbed his other rifle, fired some warning shots, and fled. (RP 1080-82)

Two weeks later, Kennewick police officers arrested Mr. Harvey and Ms. Richardson walking in a wheat field near Kennewick, Washington. (RP 569-70) The State charged Mr. Harvey with two counts

of first degree murder while armed with a firearm and two counts of unlawful possession of a firearm. (CP 51-52)

Before trial, defense counsel moved to exclude evidence of Mr. Harvey's conduct following the shooting: in particular, evidence of flight and evidence that he was involved in the theft of two vehicles during the two weeks before his arrest. (CP 8-12; RP 52)

The Court initially ruled that the State could introduce evidence that, prior to his arrest, Mr. Harvey had been in two different stolen vehicles. (RP 80) The evidence would be admissible, with a limiting instruction, to "show the effort he put into the flight." (RP 78) Shortly before trial, following the hearing on the admissibility of Mr. Harvey's statements to the police, the court ruled that his admission to having stolen the vehicles would be admissible as part of the *res gestae*. (RP 190-92)

The Court granted a pre-trial motion to exclude any reference to Mr. Potter and Mr. Harvey as victims. (RP 210)

Lori Averill was in the parking lot during part of the confrontation between Mr. Harvey, Mr. Lamere and Mr. Potter. (RP 343) Ms. Averill told the jury that she overheard some conversation between Mr. Lamere and the woman driving the truck (later identified as Ms. Richardson) involving trading two vehicles and that the Cadillac hadn't shown up. (RP 347) The woman left the area to go make a phone call. (RP 348)

According to Ms. Averill, Ms. Richardson returned after about two minutes. (RP 350)

Ms. Averill told the jury she saw Mr. Lamere go inside the building and return with a little gun. (RP 350-51) According to Ms. Averill, at that point Mr. Harvey got out of the truck and began arguing with Mr. Lamere and accused him of "ripping people off." (RP 352) She saw Mr. Harvey remove a gun from the truck and fire shots towards Mr. Lamere. (RP 352)

According to Ms. Averill, Mr. Potter was standing near or in his own truck when the shooting began and then was trying to run away. (RP 356)

Kennewick Police Officer Reynolds described for the jury a high speed chase in which he pursued two people in a red Jeep Cherokee on the afternoon of October 9. (RP 557-58) He saw the Jeep strike another vehicle and abandoned the chase to assist the occupants of the other vehicle. (RP 558) The Jeep was later found abandoned. (RP 558)

Kennewick police detective Joshua Kuhn told the jury that the Jeep had been stolen. (RP 580, 582) He testified that food, blankets and camping equipment were found during a search of the Jeep. (RP 581)

Kennewick Police Sergeant Kirk Isakson described finding and arresting Mr. Harvey and Ms. Richardson on the afternoon of October 10 in a wheat field near Kennewick. (RP 569)

Spokane Police Detective Chet Gilmore testified that he interviewed Mr. Harvey after his arrest. (RP 839) The deputy prosecutor asked the detective whether Mr. Harvey had admitted to going to any houses in Spokane, and Detective Gilmore told the jury that Mr. Harvey had denied doing so. (RP 856) The deputy prosecutor then asked about a specific address in Spokane and Detective Gilmore then told the jury he had information that Mr. Harvey had in fact gone to that address and obtained a small quantity of marijuana and a sweatshirt. (RP 856) Upon defense counsel's objection, the court ordered the jury to ignore that testimony. (RP 857)

He testified that Mr. Harvey admitted to stealing a pickup truck in North Spokane the day after the shooting and also to stealing the Jeep Cherokee in Idaho a few days before his arrest. (RP 855-56) The detective then told the jury that after additional investigation he determined that a pickup truck like the one Mr. Harvey admitted stealing had been reported stolen two days after the shooting. (RP 864, 866)

The jury found Mr. Harvey guilty of first degree murder in the shooting of Mr. Lamere and second-degree murder in the shooting of Mr.

Potter. (CP 307, 309) The jury found Mr. Harvey was armed with a firearm at the time of the offenses. (CP 308, 310) The jury also convicted Mr. Harvey of two counts of unlawful possession of a firearm. (CP 311-12)

D. ARGUMENT

1. ADMITTING EVIDENCE OF IRRELEVANT MISCONDUCT RELATING TO FLIGHT WAS PREJUDICIAL ERROR.

The irrelevant evidence of Mr. Harvey's alleged flight and, more especially his involvement in vehicle thefts in the days following the shooting, was highly prejudicial; its admission was an abuse of the court's discretion. *See State v. Lane*, 125 Wn.2d 825, 831, 889 P.2d 929 (1995).

Evidence of misconduct is not admissible to show that a defendant is a "criminal type," and has a propensity to commit criminal acts. ER 404(b), *State v. Everybodytalksabout*, 145 Wn.2d 456, 466, 39 P.3d 294 (2002); *State v. Lough*, 125 Wn.2d 847, 853, 889 P.2d 487 (1995); *see State v. Fisher*, 165 Wn.2d 727, 202 P.3d 937 (2009). ER 404(b) allows evidence of misconduct that has "some additional relevancy beyond mere propensity" "such as proof of motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or

accident." State v. Holmes, 43 Wn. App. 397, 400-01, 717 P.2d 766 (1986); Lough, 125 Wn.2d at 853.

The Supreme Court recently reiterated the trial court's duties with respect to the admission of evidence of misconduct:

Before admitting ER 404(b) evidence, a trial court "must (1) find by a preponderance of the evidence that the misconduct occurred, (2) identify the purpose for which the evidence is sought to be introduced, (3) determine whether the evidence is relevant to prove an element of the crime charged, and (4) weigh the probative value against the prejudicial effect." This analysis must be conducted on the record. If the evidence is admitted, a limiting instruction must be given to the jury.

State v. Foxhoven, 161 Wn.2d 168, 174-75, 163 P.3d 786 (2007) (citations omitted)

"Evidence of flight is admissible if it creates 'a reasonable and substantive inference that defendant's departure from the scene was an instinctive or impulsive reaction to a consciousness of guilt or was a deliberate effort to evade arrest and prosecution." *State v. Freeburg*, 105 Wn. App. 492, 497, 20 P.3d 984 (2001) *quoting State v. Nichols*, 5 Wn. App. 657, 660, 491 P.2d 677 (1971).

When evidence of flight is admissible, it tends to be only marginally probative to the ultimate issue of guilt or innocence. *Freeburg*, 105 Wn. App. at 498. The "range of circumstances that may be shown as evidence of flight is broad, the circumstance or inference of consciousness

of guilt must be substantial and real, not speculative, conjectural, or fanciful." *Freeburg*, 105 Wn. App. at 498. "The probative value of evidence of flight as circumstantial evidence of guilt depends on the degree of confidence with which four inferences can be drawn: (1) from the *defendant's behavior* to flight; (2) from flight to consciousness of guilt; (3) from consciousness of guilt to consciousness of guilt *concerning the crime charged*; and (4) from consciousness of guilt concerning the crime charged to actual guilt of the crime charged." *Freeburg*, 105 Wn. App. at 498 (emphasis added).

The State's evidence that Mr. Harvey immediately fled the scene of the shooting fails at the first inference. Ms. Richardson was driving the truck when the couple left the scene of the shooting. (RP 379, 404, 417) No one testified that Mr. Harvey instructed her to drive away. Evidence that Mr. Harvey was a passenger in a truck that was driven away from the scene of the crime does not support the inference that he sought to flee.

The evidence fails the second requirement as well. Ms. Richardson's state of mind is not relevant to Mr. Harvey's consciousness of guilt. Mr. Harvey not only may have believed he had justifiably acted in self-defense, he also later testified that at the time they left the scene he was not sure he had hit anyone and did not realize that anyone had been killed.

Even if Mr. Harvey sought to flee the scene of the shooting, this would not be evidence of guilt. It is not disputed that Mr. Lamere was armed at the time of the shooting. Ms. Richardson's act of immediately driving away is equally consistent with her belief that she and Mr. Harvey were in mortal danger if they remained at the scene. Mr. Harvey likely shared that belief. Mr. Harvey's "consciousness of guilt" cannot be inferred from this evidence with any degree of confidence. *See Freeburg*, 105 Wn. App. at 498.

The evidence of the couple's abrupt departure was thus not probative as to actual guilt.

Evidence that the driver of the jeep was eluding the police officer in Kennewick was similarly irrelevant. Officer Reynolds testified that the driver was probably female. (RP 567) The State's evidence failed to show that, as a passenger in the Jeep, Mr. Harvey engaged in any conduct constituting flight.

Ms. Richardson's conduct, even if it was at Mr. Harvey's behest, does not support an inference of his consciousness of guilt "concerning the crime charged." *See Freeburg*, 105 Wn. App. at 498. The State presented evidence the Jeep had been stolen and Mr. Harvey later allegedly admitted to the theft. Ms. Richardson's conduct likely reflected her consciousness of guilt as to the theft of the vehicle and, arguably, Mr. Harvey's

consciousness of guilt as to the theft. *See State v. Hagler*, 74 Wn. App. 232, 234, 236, 872 P.2d 85 (1994) (defendant's flight from officer during traffic stop not consciousness of guilt where State failed to show which of two possible crimes defendant felt guilty about).

Evidence of Mr. Harvey's involvement in the theft of two vehicles is similarly irrelevant.

The court identified the purpose for which the evidence was admitted, namely, "the effort" Mr. Harvey "put into the flight." Nothing in the court's comments, however, explains why the amount of effort Mr. Harvey expended had any relevance to his consciousness of guilt.

Assuming, *arguendo*, that Mr. Harvey did indeed steal two cars, the effort he put forth to effect flight adds nothing to the inference of consciousness of guilt, if any, that may be drawn from the fact of flight itself.

The relevance of the evidence of flight depends on whether the four inferences that link defendant's conduct to actual guilt can be drawn with any degree of confidence. *Foxhoven*. As to each item of evidence, one or more of those inferences involves speculation, conjecture or sheer fancy. The probative value of the evidence is thus minimal.

The prejudicial effect of "other misconduct" evidence lies in the inference that any criminal behavior shows that the defendant has a

propensity for criminal conduct such as the crime with which he is charged. *See State v. Everybodytalksabout*, 145 Wn.2d at 466. Such inferences of criminal propensity would be particularly prejudicial under the facts of this case.

The State presented substantial, perhaps overwhelming, evidence that Mr. Lamere and Mr. Potter died from gunshot wounds inflicted by Mr. Harvery. The central issue for the jury was whether Mr. Harvey was acting out of fear or anger – that is, whether he fired the shots in self-defense. "The proper inquiry in a self-defense claim focuses on the reasonableness of defendant's belief as to the apparent necessity for, and reasonableness of, the force used to repel an attack upon his person." *State v. Irby*, 113 N.C.App. 427, 437, 439 S.E.2d 226, 233 (N.C.App., 1994). Evidence of criminal propensity seriously undermined Mr. Harvey's defense.

The record does not disclose the court having given any consideration to the potential prejudice that could result from the introduction of the evidence. Nor does it appear that the court recognized the speculative nature of the inference of actual guilt from the evidence of Mr. Harvey's conduct. The prejudicial effect of the evidence outweighed any slight probative value it may have had, and its admission at trial was an abuse of discretion.

2. POLICE OFFICER TESTIMONY REFLECTING AN OPINION AS TO THE DEFENDANT'S GUILT VIOLATED HIS RIGHT TO A JURY TRIAL.

No witness may testify to his opinion by a direct statement or by inference regarding the defendant's guilt. *State v. Black*, 109 Wn.2d 336, 348, 745 P.2d 12 (1987). "Such an opinion violates the defendant's Sixth Amendment right to a trial by an impartial jury and his right to have the jury make an independent evaluation of the facts." *State v. Barr*, 123 Wn. App. 373, 380, 98 P.3d 518 (2004).

A police officer's improper opinion testimony may be especially prejudicial because it carries a "special aura of reliability." *State v. Demery*, 144 Wn.2d 753, 765, 30 P.3d 1278 (2001).

The central issue here was whether Mr. Harvey was a murderer or an intended victim. By repeatedly referring to Mr. Lamere as the "victim," the police officers expressed their opinion that Mr. Lamere was the victim, and thus Mr. Harvey was a murderer.

The court recognized the implications of such testimony and granted the pre-trial defense motion to preclude such testimony. Yet the State's first witness, Detective Oien, referred to Mr. Lamere and Mr. Potter as "the victims." (RP 322) Later, Detective Timothy Madsen twice referred to Mr. Lamere and Mr. Potter as victims. (RP 732-33) Defense

counsel approached the bench and objected to the repeated references, and the Court instructed the deputy prosecutor to remind his witness of the prohibition. (RP 733) Shortly thereafter, Detective Gilmore again described Mr. Lamere and Mr. Potter as victims, and then referred to a witness as "the girlfriend of one of the victims, one of the persons who had been shot" (RP 831)

The police officers' repeated use of the term "victims" conveyed to the jury the overwhelming opinion of the police officers that these two men had been victims, and thus Mr. Harvey was a murderer. The law enforcement officers' expression of a collective opinion as to Mr. Harvey's guilt violated his right to a jury trial.

The remaining issue is whether the untainted evidence was so overwhelming that it necessarily leads to a finding of guilt. *State v. Guloy*, 104 Wn.2d 412, 426, 705 P.2d 1182 (1985), *cert. denied*, 475 U.S. 1020 (1986). If there is any reasonable possibility that the use of inadmissible evidence was necessary to reach a guilty verdict, the conviction must be reversed. *Id*.

Overwhelming evidence showed that Mr. Harvey shot Mr. Potter and Mr. Lamere. But, Mr. Harvey's testimony that Mr. Lamere was armed with a handgun was supported by both testimony and physical evidence. Mr. Harvey's claim that he was at first intimidated by Mr.

Lamere and eventually afraid for his life, was substantiated by witnesses

who testified that several people had told Mr. Harvey that Mr. Lamere was

extremely dangerous.

By framing the case in terms of murder victims at the outset, and

repeating the insinuation throughout the trial, the State's witnesses

effectively told the jury Mr. Harvey was guilty. Evidence that Mr. Harvey

did not act in self-defense was circumstantial and far from overwhelming.

It is thus quite possible that the officers' improper testimony was the

dispositive factor in the jury's verdicts.

E. CONCLUSION

Mr. Harvey did not receive a fair jury trial. The State's case relied

on improper, prejudicial evidence to persuade the jury that Mr. Harvey did

not act in self-defense. His convictions should be reversed, and the case

remanded for a new trial.