I. 

APPELLANT'S ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

(1) The trial court abused its discretion by admitting evidence 

of other misconduct. 

(2) Witnesses' expressions of opinion regarding the ultimate 

issue of guilt violated defendant's right to a jury trial. 

II.

ISSUES PRESENTED 

(1) Did the trial court err in admitting evidence of defendant's 

involvement in the theft of two vehicles and eluding 

pursuant to Evidence Rule ("ER") 404(b) to show 

defendant's consciousness of guilt? 

(2) Did witnesses' use of "victim" to refer to the deceased at 

trial violate defendant's right to a trial by jury? 

III. 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Appellant/defendant Merle Harvey was charged in the Spokane 

County Superior Court with two counts of first degree murder while 

anned with a fireann and two counts of unlawful possession of a fireann. 
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CP 1-2 and 51-52. It was alleged that he killed two men during a 

disagreement regarding a trade of vehicles while unlawfully possessing 

two fireanns. CP 27-39. 

The matter was assigned to the Honorable Tari S. Eitzen for trial. 

RP 1 et seq. An extensive number of motions were filed before trial. One 

was a motion to exclude evidence of defendant's actions post-killing while 

fleeing the scene of the crime. CP 8-12. A lengthy pre-trial hearing was 

held pursuant to ER 404(b) concerning the defendant's post-killing 

actions, including his theft of a vehicle in Idaho and a theft of another 

vehicle in Washington to facilitate his escape from the crime scene. 

RP 41-80. The trial court entered factual findings and legal conclusions 

that evidence of defendant's post-killing flight was admissible as part of 

the res gestae of the charged crimes. RP 77-80; 190-192. 

The trial court then conducted a CrR 3.5 hearing to detennine the 

admissibility of the defendant's statements to law enforcement officers. 

After the hearing, the trial court entered factual findings and legal 

conclusions therefrom which ruled that defendant's statements were 

admissible at trial. CP 400-408. RP 92-179. 

The jury convicted the defendant as charged. CP 307, 308, 309, 

310, 311, 312. The trial court sentenced the defendant. CP 411-422. This 

appeal timely followed. CP 425-438. 
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IV. 

ARGUMENT 

A. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS 
DISCRETION IN ADMITTING EVIDENCE OF 
DEFENDANT'S FLIGHT FROM THE SCENE OF 
THE MURDERS. 

Initially, defendant claims the trial court erred in admitting 

evidence of defendant's post-murder flight and activities to facilitate that 

flight. The record reflects that the trial court carefully considered and 

weighed the evidence before admitting only the most pertinent evidence. 

There was no abuse of discretion. 

The Washington State Supreme Court restated the standard for 

examining evidentiary rulings under an abuse of discretion standard: 

Where the decision of the trial court is a matter of 
discretion, it will not be disturbed on review except on a 
clear showing of abuse of discretion, that is, discretion 
manifestly unreasonable or exercised on untenable grounds 
or for untenable reasons. State ex rei. Carroll v. Junker, 
79 Wn.2d 12,26,482 P.2d 775 (1971). In short, discretion 
is abused only where it can be said no reasonable man 
would take the view adopted by the trial court. 
State v. Blight, 89 Wn.2d 38, 41,569 P.2d 1129 (1977). 

State v. Elmore, 139 Wn.2d 250, 284, 985 P .2d 289 (1999), cert. denied 

531 U.S. 837, 148 L. Ed. 2d 57, 121 S. ct. 98 (2000). 

The decision to admit evidence of other crimes or bad acts under 

ER 404(b), as with any other evidence ruling, is reviewed for abuse of 
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discretion: State v. Dennison, 115 Wn.2d 609, 628, 801 P.2d 193 (1990); 

State v. Bacotgarcia, 59 Wn. App. 815, 824, 801 P.2d 993 (1990), review 

denied 116 Wn.2d 1020 (1991) (citing State v. Goebel, 40 Wn.2d 18, 

240 P.2d 251 (1952) [pre-rule decision]). The test has also been 

characterized as: whether any reasonable judge would rule as did the trial 

judge. State v. Nelson, 108 Wn.2d 491,504-505, 740 P.2d 835 (1987). 

Evidence of the flight of a person after the commission of a crime 

is admissible and may be considered by the jury as a circumstance, along 

with other circumstances of the case, in determining guilt or innocence. 

State v. Bruton, 66 Wn.2d 111, 112,401 P.2d 340 (1965). This principle 

is based upon the rationale that flight is an instinctive or impulsive 

reaction to a consciousness of guilt or is a deliberate attempt to avoid 

arrest and prosecution. Id., at 112. Evidence of flight must be sufficient 

to create a reasonable and substantive inference that the defendant's 

departure from the scene was an instinctive or impulsive reaction to a 

consciousness of guilt or was a deliberate effort to evade arrest and 

prosecution. 

Here, no speculation is required to reasonably and substantively 

infer that defendant's flight from a double murder crime scene was to 

Admission of evidence under ER 404(b) does not present a constitutional issue. 
Dowling v. United States, 493 U.S. 342, 110 S. Ct. 668, 107 L. Ed. 2d 708 (1990). 
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evade arrest and prosecution. The defendant drove away from the 

shooting scene, and then stole a vehicle in Spokane when his vehicle 

broke down. RP 115-116, 855, 864. The defendant travelled to another 

State, Idaho, then stole another vehicle when his first stolen vehicle broke 

down. RP 116. Thereafter, defendant was in Kennewick on his way to a 

hot springs in Oregon when the stolen vehicle also broke down and 

defendant was forced to steal yet another vehicle to try and further his 

flight from the double murder. RP 118, 855-857, 864. Defendant eluded 

law enforcement during a dangerous pursuit and escaped arrest in 

Kennewick. RP 557-558. Defendant's flight to avoid arrest and 

prosecution for the double murder only ended when he was found walking 

through a wheat field by Kennewick police and arrested. RP 569-570. 

Evidence is admissible pursuant to ER 404(b) only where it is 

logically relevant to a material issue before the jury, and the probative 

value of the evidence outweighs any prejudicial effect. State v. Saltarelli, 

98 Wn.2d 358, 362, 655 P.2d 697 (1982). Evidence is relevant and 

necessary where the purpose in admitting the evidence is of consequence 

to the action and makes the existence of the identified act more probable. 

State v. Dennison, 115 Wn.2d at 628. As noted, the decision to admit 

evidence under ER 404(b) rests within the trial court's discretion. 
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State v. Walker, 75 Wn. App. 101, 108, 879 P.2d 957 (1994), review 

denied, 125 Wn.2d 1015,890 P.2d 20 (1995). 

Here, the trial court engaged in the cited analysis and admitted the 

evidence of defendant's activities in fleeing the scene of the double murder 

as res gestae thereof. ER 404(b) specifically identifies res gestae as one of 

the purposes for permitting evidence of other bad acts. This evidence 

squarely fit that purpose of the rule. The evidence of flight included 

defendant's escape to Idaho where he stole a vehicle to continue his flight 

when his initial escape vehicle broke down. Defendant readily admitted to 

law enforcement that his plan was to escape to Oregon. RP 864. 

This evidence helped explain the events of the incident on September 26, 

2009 and was highly relevant. See State v. Lillard, 122 Wn. App. 422, 

93 P.3d 969 (2004) (under the res gestae or "same transaction" exception 

to ER 404(b), evidence of other crimes or bad acts is admissible to 

complete the story of a crime or to provide the immediate context for 

events close in both time and place to the charged crime). 

The trial court properly applied ER 404(b) in its analysis of this 

evidence. It carefully considered the proffered testimony, limited the 

evidence to the most probative examples. The trial court offered to give a 

limiting instruction regarding the use of the evidence to the jury, yet 

defendant elected not to request such an instruction. Under these facts there 
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simply could be no abuse of discretion. There was no error in admitting this 

evidence. 

B. WITNESS USE OF THE TERM "VICTIM" DID 
NOT CONSTITUTE AN OPINION REGARDING 
THE ULTIMATE ISSUE OF GUILT. 

Defendant next contends that the reference to the deceased as 

''victims'' constituted an opinion as to the defendant's guilt and thus, violated 

his constitutional right to a jury trial. Initially, in detennining whether 

statements are impennissible opinion testimony, the court will generally 

consider the circumstances of the case, including (1) the type of witness 

involved, (2) the specific nature of the testimony, (3) the nature of the 

charges, (4) the type of defense, and (5) the other evidence before the trier 

offact. State v. Demery. 144 Wn.2d 753, 759, 30 P.3d 1278 (2001). 

Here, officers responding to the reported scene of a shooting with 

multiple people wounded merely referred to those individuals as 

''victims.'' Initially, the record reflects that the statements were 

inadvertently introduced since the trial court had ruled that witnesses were 

not to use the tenn "victim" when referring to the deceased. RP 210. 

Applying the Demery factors to the subject testimony. First, the witnesses 

involved were law enforcement officers who generally made the reference 

to the deceased as "victims" in the innocuous context of relating why they 
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responded and what they observed upon arrival at the shooting scene. For 

example, Officer Oien testified: "responded to a shots fired call with 

possible victims" (RP 315); "medics did some preliminary treatment and 

loaded victims up and left scene" (RP 322); "secured crime scene ... made 

sure they had quick ingress and egress so they could treat the victim on the 

scene as best as possible". RP 322-323. However, Officer Oien also 

referred to the deceased as "subjects" or by name during that same 

testimony. The record reflects no objection by defendant to Officer Oien's 

testimony; however, the trial court reminded the prosecutor to consult with 

the officer regarding a defense counsel concern.. RP 323. 

Thereafter, several officers testified without referencing the 

deceased as "victims." The next reference occurred during Detective 

Madsen's testimony when he related what his Sergeant said during the 

telephone call when the detective was called to the scene. Detective 

Madsen testified, "sergeant called ... regarding shooting at 1310 W. 

Boone ... there were two victims who had been shot and they were not 

expected to live ... the victims had been removed ... to the hospital." 

RP 732-733 The record reflects no formal objection; however, the 

prosecutor was directed to remind the witness of the court's ruling at a 

bench conference. RP 733. 
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, . 

Thereafter, several more witnesses testified without any reference 

to the deceased as "victims" until Detective Gilmore testified about being 

briefed by patrol officers. Detective Gilmore testified, "briefing ... that two 

male victims had been taken to the hospital ... potential suspects ... had 

fled ... one woman was reported as a witness, and the girlfriend of one of 

the victims, persons shot." RP 831. Detective Gilmore thereafter testified 

at great length (RP 831-909) without ever referring to the deceased as 

''victims.'' 

The subject statements merely related the circumstances as 

perceived by the witnesses or others in setting the scene of a shooting that 

ultimately resulted in a double homicide. These statements were 

intermixed with references to the deceased as "subjects" or by name which 

diminished the impact of such statements. The jury knew before ever 

hearing any witness refer to the deceased as ''victims'' that defendant was 

claiming that he committed the killings in self-defense based upon the 

actions by the deceased. Finally, the other evidence presented to the jury 

characterized the deceased as subjects or used their proper names. None 

of the statements by the witnesses constituted an opinion on the ultimate 

issue before the jury. 

ER 704 provides, in pertinent part: "[t]estimony in the form of an 

opinion or inferences otherwise admissible is not objectionable because it 
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· . 

embraces an ultimate issue to be decided by the trier of fact." Under 

ER 704, a witness may testify as to matters of law, yet not give a legal 

conclusion which includes testimony that a specific law applies to the 

case, or that the defendant's conduct violated that specific law. 

State v. Olmedo, 112 Wn. App. 525, 532, 49 P.3d 960 (2002). Here, none 

of the witnesses stated their opinion on the defendant's guilt when 

inadvertently referring to the deceased as "victims." The witnesses were 

all fact witnesses who related nothing more. None of the witnesses 

offered an opinion that defendant was guilty of the crimes charged. In the 

end this case came down to the credibility of the direct and circumstantial 

evidence versus the testimony of the defendant that he acted in self-defense. 

Accordingly, the defendant's right to a trial by jury was neither impeded nor 

violated by the subject testimony. 

v. 

CONCLUSION 

For the reasons stated, the convictions should be affirmed. 

ed this/o'fay of August, 2011. 

#18272